CASE NO. 62,691



MAR 30 1983

SID J. WHITE
GLERK SURRENTS COLLET
Chief Deputy Class

MARIO LARA

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE OF DEATH IN THE DADE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ADAM H. LAWRENCE, ESQ. Special Assistant Public Defender 1008 Peninsula Federal Building 200 S.E. First Street Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 358-3371

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On July 16, 1981 a Miami police officer was dispatched to an address in Miami where he met Francisco Rizo and, through Rizo, gained access to a dwelling in which Rizo had, earlier, discovered the dead body of his girl friend Grisel Fumero. (T. 523-541). Fumero had been shot 4 times and was lying in the kitchen of a downstairs apartment in the multi-family dwelling. During the course of the crime scene search, an upstairs tenant discovered and reported to police the presence of another body between the beds of an upstairs bedroom. This decedent, Olga Elviro, had been gagged, bound wrist-to-ankle and wrist-to-ankle, her pants and underpants had been cut or ripped open, and she had been stabbed three times. (T. 1280, 1282-3, 1289-90, 1307-9, 1331-2; 1397, 1407; R. 185, 186, 197, 200).

The medical examiner testified that Elviro had died from a stab wound in the chest, and that Fumero had died from multiple gunshot wounds. (T. 1400, 1418). A medical technician testified that he found evidence of seminal fluid and sperm from swabs taken from Elviro's vaginal canal. (T. 1827-8). A handgun found on the premises was determined to be the weapon that fired at least one of the bullets into Fumero. A serrated edge knife was tentatively established as the weapon that may have made the wound in Elviro's neck. (T. 1510-15; 1458-62; 1398-1400). However, no fingerprints, or blood, hair, saliva, or bodily secretion specimens taken from the defendant and the victims tied the defendant to the rape or to either of the homicides.

The state's evidence established that, at the time of the homicides, the defendant was awaiting trial on charges of voluntary and involuntary sexual battery against a 13 year old girl who was allegedly Fumero's sister. A charge of robbery was also pending against the defendant. It was unclear from the proofs whether the rape victim was also the victim of the robbery. Francisco Rizo was a fugitive

at the time of the homicide trial. He may have, at one time, been working for the police. Rizo, who apparently had fled shortly after the homicides, had information concerning the rape case and, although this too is unclear, may have even been charged, with the defendant, for the rape, or the robbery, or for both offenses. (T. 1534-5, 1541-2, 1546-51).

The decedent Fumero had given a deposition in the rape case and was apparently to be a witness in that case against the defendant. The record does not reveal whether Fumero was a crucial witness, whether or how she had implicated the defendant, or the nature of what she could relate or prove. (T. 1535-41). It was the state's theory of the case that the defendant had killed Fumero to silence her as a witness.

The state's key, and only eyewitness to either of the homicides, Tomas Barcelo, testified that prior to July 16, 1981, the defendant and Rizo had embarked upon a scheme to convince Fumero that Rizo loved her and wished to marry her, and that she should stay with Rizo in the defendant's home. It was apparently believed by Rizo and the defendant that if this occurred, Fumero could be convinced not to testify in the rape case against the defendant. Approximately 4 days prior to the homicides Fumero, in fact, came to stay in the defendant's house where she was visited by Rizo. (T. 1557-60, 1680-85, 1693).

At or about this time, in a way that is not clear from the record, the defendant's girl friend, Elviro, learned from somebody, possibly Elviro's sister-in-law, Martinez, who was a witness for the state, of the rape charges against the defendant and expressed her intention of leaving him. This enraged the defendant who on July 16, 1981, displayed some guns and threatened to kill both his girl friend and Martinez. (T. 1566-68, 1570-73). Martinez, who had a weak heart fainted as a result of the defendant's threats, and was taken to

the hospital by the defendant and Elviro. The defendant and Elviro subsequently left the hospital and returned to the defendant's house. (T.1573-77).

When the defendant and Elviro arrived at the defendant's house, the defendant aroused a sleeping Tomas Barcelo, and told him that he wished to use the bedroom. Barcelo went outside in the yard and within a half-hour observed the defendant exit the door from the upstairs apartment and knock loudly on the door of the downstairs apartment. (T.1701-5).

Barcelo stated that the defendant was admitted to the downstairs apartment by Fumero. Angry or loud words were apparently exchanged between the defendant and, possibly, Fumero, as the defendant strode through the kitchen to his brother's bedroom. The defendant then returned to the kitchen where Fumero, Barcelo, and the defendant's brother, Arsenio Lara, were standing. The defendant stood staring at Fumero with his hands behind his back and his leg twitching. Saying, "It's your fault that I have lost everything", or "Because of you I've lost everything", the defendant quickly pulled his brother's gun from behind his back and fired five times at Fumero, calling her a "son of a bitch." (T. 1705-15). The defendant continued to pull the trigger after the gun was empty. started screaming and crying. He asked his brother if he was crazy and told his brother that he was, in fact, "crazy". Barcelo also believed that the defendant had "gone crazy". Both Arsenio and Barcelo told the defendant that he was a murderer. The defendant, laughing, retorted, "So I am a murderer, am I" and threatened to kill Arsenio. When the defendant started reloading the gun, Arsenio told Barcelo to run - that his brother would kill him too since Barcelo had also called the defendant a murderer. (T. 1713-17, 1761).

The parties quickly dispersed. Barcelo ran out and, eluding the defendant who he believed was looking for him, made his way to New York where he was located by the State Attorney's Office in June, 1982. Arsenio, who was found with a blood spattered watch in his possession, was originally charged with murder, but was

given immunity and the charges against him were dismissed. (T.1775-8). He was rearrested as a material witness to the homicides but refused to give any testimony incriminating his brother, and was jailed for contempt. Either Rizo or Arsenio called the police and Rizo, who became a fugitive himself, returned to the premises to meet the Miami police officer who was dispatched to the scene. (T. 1608-9). The defendant made his way to Union City, New Jersey, where he was arrested by the Union City police department on July 21, 1981. (T. 1717-18), 1720-21, 1665-67).

The defendant waived extradition from New Jersey and was returned to Florida on July 23, 1981. In a three count indictment filed on November 18, 1981, the defendant was charged with the premeditated killing of Grisel Fumero with a pistol, contrary to §§782.04 and 775.087 Fla. Stat., the premeditated killing of Olga Elviro with a knife, contrary to §§782.04 and 775.087 Fla. Stat., and the involuntary sexual battery of Elviro using a deadly weapon, contrary to §794.011(3) Fla.Stat.(R.1).

Through witness cross-examination, and argument to the jury, the defendant presented the defense at trial that Rizo, his brother, Arsenio, and possibly others were the actual murderers. He relied heavily on Rizo's fugitive status, the fact that his brother's gun was the murder weapon and the brother was found with a blood stained watch, and investigatory lapses or omissions by the state. The defendant did not take the stand.

On July 15, 1982, the defendant was convicted of first degree murder in the death of Fumero, but was convicted of second degree murder in the death of Elviro. The defendant was convicted as charged for the sexual battery of Elviro. (R. 253-57). The jury returned an advisory recommendation of death with which the court concurred. On July 22, 1982 the defendant was sentenced to death for the murder of Fumero, and 99 years on each of the other two convictions. (R. 256-61). The defendant's motion for a new trial was denied and this appeal, and the State's cross-appeal, followed. (R. 356, 362).

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR DISCHARGE AFTER THE STATE FAILED, WITHOUT LEGAL EXCUSE, TO COMMENCE THE DEFENDANT'S TRIAL WITHIN 180 DAYS OF HIS ARREST.

The offenses for which the defendant was convicted occurred on July 16, 1981. That was also the week during which a sexual battery and robbery case against the defendant, in which the decedent Fumero was allegedly a witness, was set for trial. (T.1537-8). On July 21, 1981 Miami Police Department homicide detectives learned of the decedent's whereabouts in New Jersey.(T.376-8). Up to the time of the offense, neither homicide detectives Guzman nor Napoli, had anything to do with the initial rape case against the defendant or even knew the defendant's name. After July 16, however, the defendant became the prime suspect in the homicides.(T.389).

On July 22, within 12 hours after learning of the defendant's capture, homicide detectives Guzman and Napoli flew up to New Jersey in order to, according to Guzman, convince the defendant that things would go better for him, and for his brother who was then under arrest for the homicides, if he came back to Florida to face the homicide charges. (R.392). It is significant that neither detective took with him to New Jersey any case files or information about the rape or robbery cases or had the slightest interest in those cases. The information they carried with them consisted of the case file on the double homicide, photographs of the crime scene, the sworn statement of the defendant's brother incriminating the defendant, the brother's arrest warrant, and pictures of the defendant's family.(T. 389-90,481,485).

The conclusion is inescapable that the information chosen by the homicide detectives was geared to play upon the defendant's emotions, to convince him to confess his participation in the homicides, and to obtain his voluntary return to Miami to face the homicide charges. The crime scene pictures were, for example, exhibited to the defendant in the plane on the trip back, according to Guzman, in order to induce him to cooperate and give a statement (T.395). Upon deplaning in Miami on

July 23, the defendant was not taken to the Dade County Jail on the underlying fugitive charge, but to the homicide unit of the Miami Police Department. (T.396).

Detective Guzman's explanation of why he went to New Jersey was disputed by his partner, Napoli, whose testimony, even to the most partisan of advocates for the state's position has to border on the incredible. Napoli, however, did reluctantly admit the critical and controlling fact that he told Guzman to tell the defendant, when the defendant was given his rights and questioned by both detectives at the Hudson County, New Jersey, jail on July 22, that "he was under arrest for the murder". (T.485-6). Napoli also admitted the equally important fact that except for some minor laboratory work, and a second statement from a witness, when he went up to New Jersey on July 22, the homicide investigation was essentially complete and he was personally convinced that the defendant and his brother were the murderers. (T.490-92).

From the point of view of the New Jersey authorities, the documentation and information emanating from Florida justifying the defendant's arrest, unambiguously indicated that the defendant's detention on the homicides was the primary concern of the Florida authorities. The Hudson County, New Jersey fugitive complaint, dated July 21, alleged that the defendant was arrested and detained on the authority of the Miami Homicide Division, for the charges of rape, robbery and two counts of homicide. (R.77,86). On the initial teletype to Hudson County, the very first lines state that the defendant was to be located for questioning with reference to a homicide that occurred on July 16, 1981. (R.87). The Hudson County Arrest Report specified the offenses for which the defendant was arrested as rape, robbery and "suspected homicide, 2 charges". (R.88). The Hudson County "Incident Report" related that Hudson County was initially contacted by Miami Homicide relative to a "double homicide and robbery", involving the defendant. (R. 159). At the New Jersey extradition hearing on July 23, the court asked the defendant whether he understood he had been arrested on a warrant charging him with "rape and robbery and homicide". The defendant

answered "Yes".(R.81). All this documentation is consistent with Guzman and Napoli's statement to the defendant, in New Jersey, that he was under arrest for homicide.

At the time that Lt. Wolpert of the Union City, New Jersey Police Department arrested the defendant on July 21, he advised the defendant that he was being arrested on a warrant charging robbery, rape and a double homicide. Wolpert personally believed that the homicides were an integral basis of the Florida warrant, and did not learn anything to the contrary until considerably after the defendant's arrest.(T.400-403, 409,424,430). Wolpert's associate, Sergeant Karabatsos, had learned from Florida that the defendant was "wanted" for questioning concerning the double homicide in Miami. (T.447,455). Before arresting the defendant, Karabatsos had spoken with Miami Homicide about the murders and, pursuant to directions given to him by Miami Homicide, caused the defendant to be questioned about the homicides. (T.456). The actual questioning was done by a Spanish-speaking officer who asked the defendant some questions about the homicide but was prevented from continuing by instructions from her chief. Apparently, the chief feared that if too much information about the homicides was elicited by his officers, their services would be lost to his department during the time they were in Florida as witnesses.(T.668-9, 681-3,R.183).

The defendant was subsequently indicted and formally arrested on November 17, 1981, for these homicides while lodged in the Dade County Jail. Between July 23, 1981, and January 19, 1982, the date the 180 day speedy trial period expired, the defendant's trial had not commenced nor had any delays in commencement been charged to the defendant.(T.509). The defendant moved for discharge because of the state's violation of the speedy trial rule and this motion was denied.(R.74,173-178).

Fla.R.Crim.P.3.191(a)(1) and (4)(i) provides that a person charged with a felony must be tried within 180 days of the day he is taken into custody. A person is taken into custody when he is arrested as a result of the conduct which gave rise

to the crime charged. The simple and controlling fact in this case is that on July 21, 1981, the Homicide Unit of the Miami Police Department caused the defendant to be arrested and questioned in New Jersey for his role in a double homicide. The coincidental presence of the one week old rape and robbery warrants merely provided legal window dressing for an arrest that was intended, beforehand, to culminate and resolve an intense one week long homicide investigation.

When the defendant was taken into custody by New Jersey authorities on July 21, 1981, told that he was being arrested for the homicides, and advised of his Miranda rights, and questioned about the homicides, the defendant was then in custody on the homicides. State v. N.B., 360 So.2d 162, 165 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978), cert.den. 383 So.2d 1199 (Fla. 1980); Wiggins v. State, 384 So.2d 43 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980). The defendant's "anxiety and concern attendant on public accusation" about the homicides had certainly commenced at the time he was detained in New Jersey for the homicides, the rape and the robbery. The defendant was sufficiently in custody on the homicides to be at the disposal of the Miami homicide detectives who were then rushing northward to confront him, question him and take him into Florida custody for the murders. See, Singletary v. State, 322 So.2d 551, 554 (Fla. 1975); Johnson v. State, 409 So.2d 152 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982).

If, somehow, the defendant is not deemed to have been arrested for the homicides on July 21 by the New Jersey police, there can be no dispute that he was under arrest, and had every right to perceive himself under arrest for the homicides, on July 22, when confronted by Miami homicide detectives Napoli and Guzman in the Hudson County Jail. Melton v. State, 75 So.2d 291, 294 (Fla. 1954). There is no explaining away lead detective Napoli's testimony that he directed Guzman to tell the defendant that the defendant was then under arrest for murder. (T.485-6). There is also no doubt, because Napoli himself admitted it, that Miami Homicide had probable cause to arrest the defendant for murder on July 21, 1981. (T.490-492). This case thus falls squarely within the class of cases identified in Thomas v. State, 374 So.2d

508,513 (Fla. 1979), in which an arrest on one charge will not stop the speedy trial period from running on another if the arresting authorities possessed ample evidence to arrest or indict on the second charge:

[T]he spirit of the Speedy Trial Rule would not condone the withholding of some charges and an arrest on others so as to effectively extend the time periods of the rule where there is ample evidence to support probable cause as to all charges.

The relevance of Thomas to the instant case would have been made even more apparent had the trial court not erroneously limited the defendant in his cross-examination and production of evidence. The court first prohibited the defendant from questioning Napoli to show that the real reason Napoli went to New Jersey was to arrest the defendant for murder. (T.482-3). The court then prevented the defendant from examining Napoli, or calling the Assistant State Attorney in charge of the investigation, to show why no indictment had been returned between July 23, 1981, and November 17, 1981. The defendant proffered the fact that the state had probable cause to indict for the homicides and that the only reason for the delay in indictment was the state's desire to insure that the defendant's conviction on the rape and robbery would be available to aggravate the homicides. (T.492-3, 497-500). These two rulings by the trial court were so prejudicial that they constitute independent grounds, under this Point, to reverse the trial court's denial of his motion for discharge.

For the reasons stated above, the trial court erred when it denied the defendant's motion for discharge.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS PHYSICAL EVIDENCE WHEN THE PRECEDING SEARCH WAS BASED UPON AN INVALID CONSENT PROVEN BY INCOMPETENT HEARSAY EVIDENCE

Miami police officer Diazlay testified that he was informed by his sergeant
"that there was a man who had gone into the station and advised that he had gone home
and found his girl friend - I don't remember if he said girl friend or wife, dead".(T.597)

Diazlay went to the reported address and waited at the scene until he was met by the "complainant", Francisco Rizo. Rizo had a key and let the officer into the apartment where both bodies, and other incriminating evidence, was eventually found. (T.598).

The defendant objected to the question "[d]id you discuss with him as to who lived in the house?", on the grounds of hearsay. The objection was overruled and Diazlay answered that Rizo told him he lived there with his wife or girl friend. (T.598-600). The officer admitted that he did not know Rizo before that day or ever saw him again after that day and that he saw no personal belongings, clothes, or papers of Rizo's on the prmises which would suggest to him that Rizo was renting that apartment. Over the defendant's hearsay objection the court also permitted Officer Diazlay to state that Rizo told him that he was the complaining witness.(T.601).

Lead detective Napoli testified that he never met Rizo at the scene but believed that, prior to sealing the residence, the police let Rizo remove some of his property from the house.(T.617, 630). Diazlay, who had remained with Rizo the entire time Rizo was at the scene, denied this.(T.600-602). See, Moffett v. Wainwright, 512 F.2d 496 (5th Cir. 1975).

The defendant testified that he was a rent paying tenant at the premises.(T.595). He stated that Rizo, like the decedent Fumero, had been a guest at the premises for a few days, but was not a tenant in the house nor did he have his own keys. If Rizo wanted to come in he had to knock and someone would let him in - or else he would be locked out. The defendant tried to explain that the house keys came into Rizo's possession when Rizo borrowed his brother's car - a fact independently verified by the defendant's brother in his statements of July 16, 1981 and August 6, 1981. (R.36, 42; T. 636).

The defendant also stated that Rizo and Fumero were friends, and during their residence on the premises as guests had shared a bed in the bedroom in which the

defendant also slept. The defendant further stated that any clothes Rizo may have removed from the house belonged to the defendant because Rizo did not have any clothes on the premises.(T.635-640). The defendant's testimony was essentially uncontradicted.

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