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

The admission into evidence of gruesome photographs is within the sound discretion of the trial judge. Rodriguez v. State, 413 So.2d 1303, 1305 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982); Zamora v. State, 361 So.2d 776, 782 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978). In the present case, the

record reveals that the trial judge carefully examined each of the photographs, discarded 6 photographs as duplications, and allowed the remaining photographs into evidence as depicting different views of the crime scene and the victim's injuries, thus exercising reasoned judgment in admitting only those photographs which were relevant to the issues to be proved. (T: 1312-1329) Under the circumstances, there was no abuse of discretion and the photographs were properly admitted. 32

X

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ABUSE HER DISCRETION IN GIVING THE WITNESS AVAILABILITY INSTRUCTION WHERE THE DEFENDANT MADE WITNESS AVAILABILITY AN ISSUE IN THE CASE.

The defendant argues the trial court erred in giving the jury instruction on witness availability at the request of the State. (T: 1855-1863, 1917, 1996-1997) The defendant argues this

<sup>32</sup>The defendant's claim that the photographs were irrelevant because he did not dispute the cause of death or the fact that Elviro had been bound and gagged is wholly without merit. Relevancy, not necessity, is the test for the admissibility of gruesome photographs. Straight v. State, 397 So.2d 903, 906 (Fla. 1981); Bauldree v. State, 284 So.2d 196, 197 (Fla. 1973); State v. Wright, 265 So.2d 361, 362 (Fla. 1972). Thus, even though the defendant was willing to stipulate to a number of factual matters which the photographs were relevant to prove, the photographs are still admissible if they are relevant. Straight v. State, supra at 906; Dillen v. State, 202 So.2d 904, 905 (Fla. 2d DCA 1967). As this Court stated in Foster v. State, 369 So.2d 92, 930 (Fla. 1979), cert. denied 444 U.S. 885 (1979), a defendant cannot, by stipulating as to the identity of the victim and the cause of death, relieve the State of its burden of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Most importantly, the defendant was not prepared to stipulate to the key issue in the case, premeditation, which was incumbant upon the State to prove to sustain the charge of first degree murder. Edwards v. State, 414 So.2d 1174, 1175 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982); Zamora v. State, 361 So.2d 776, 782 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978).

instruction "neutralized" his defense that Arsenio Lara, Tomas Barcelo or others had committed the murders.

The general rule is that it is within the trial judge's discretion to instruct the jury that there is no rule requiring the parties to call every possible witness and that the jury may not draw an inference as to what their testimony might have been. Hernandez v. State, 369 So.2d 76 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979), cert. denied 378 So.2d 345 (Fla. 1979); United States v. Llamas, 280 F.2d 392 (2d Cir. 1960); Selph v. State, 22 Fla. 537 (Fla. 1886); Brown v. State, 108 So. 842 (Fla. 1926).

In the present case, defense counsel in part established his defense that others may have committed the murders by arguing to the jury that the State failed to call fingerprint experts, medical experts and ballistics experts to corroborate the State's evidence. (T: 1926, 1928, 1932, 1936, 1977-1979, 1986) Defense counsel also argued to the jury that such testimony may in fact have corroborated his defense and not the State's case, intimating that the State purposely did not produce the witnesses for that very reason. (T: 1936-1937, 1977-1979). Thus, the defendant himself made witness availability and potential testimony an issue in the case and the State was entitled to the instruction to prevent the jury from drawing improper inferences and to counter the defense tactic during closing argument of questioning why the State did not bring in material witnesses and evidence to assist the jury in arriving at the truth. v. State, 347 So.2d 1054, 1057 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977). Moreover, as the defendant was aware, two important witnesses, Francisco Rizzo

and Arsenio Lara, were unavailable, and the State was entitled to the instruction to prevent the jury from drawing improper inferences regarding their supposed testimony.

Contrary to the defendant's claim, the instruction did not instruct the jury to ignore the State's failure of proof, did not relieve the State of its burden or proof, see Hernandez v. State, 396 So.2d 76, 77 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979), cert. den. 378 So.2d 345 (Fla. 1979), and did not impermissibly comment on the defendant's right to produce no evidence. The trial judge did not abuse her discretion in giving the instruction.

ΧŢ

THE PROSECUTOR'S COMMENTS DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT WERE PROPER REPLY TO ARGUMENT MADE BY DEFENSE COUNSEL AND DID NOT VIOLATE THE DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

The defendant next argues that eight comments made by the prosecutor during his closing argument were so prejudicial as to violate his right to a fair trial. He claims that each of these comments impermissibly accused defense counsel of trying to fool the jury and of tailoring his defense to fit the prosecutor's case.

Four of these comments were simply not preserved for appellate review.<sup>33</sup> The record shows that defense counsel made no objection to these four comments, neither did he request curative instructions or move for a mistrial. Thus, the defendant

 $<sup>^{33}</sup>$ Defendant's brief, page 33, contains the list of unobjected to comments found on pages 1949, 1951, 1952, 1970 and 1972 of the transcript. The objected to comments are found on pages 1938, 1950, 1970 and 1973 of the transcript.

has waived any challenge to these four comments on appeal.

<u>Simpson v. State</u>, 418 So.2d 984, 986 (Fla. 1982); <u>Maggard v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 399 So.2d 973 (Fla. 1981); <u>Clark v. State</u>, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978).

It is well-settled that wide latitude is allowed in the prosecutor's argument to the jury, and that the prosecutor's statements must be examined in the full context in which they were made. Breedlove v. State, 413 So.2d 1, 7-8 (Fla. 1982);

Johnsen v. State, 332 So.2d 69 (Fla. 1976); Frierson v. State,

339 So.2d 312 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976). Florida law also provides that the State must have an opportunity for fair comment and reply when defense counsel intitates a matter during his closing argument. Ferguson v. State, 417 So.2d 639, 642 (Fla. 1982); Wilder v. State, 355 So.2d 188, 189 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978); Gains v. State, 417 So.2d 719, 724 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982); Ricks v. State, 242 So.2d 763 (Fla. 3d DCA 1971).

In the present case, defense counsel argued during his initial closing argument that he never contested the fact that the murders had been committed. (T: 1925-1926, 1935) The prosecutor then properly responded to the argument and stated that even though defense counsel may agree or stipulate to the murders, nevertheless the State is still required to prove the facts beyond a reasonable doubt. (T: 1938) Defense counsel also argued that the State did not properly investigate the case and failed to produce certain evidence that might have supported the defendant's defense and weakened the State's case. Specifically, defense counsel claimed that the State failed to produce any

fingerprints linking the defendant to the crime and supporting the testimony of the State's key witness, Barcelo, (T: 1926-1927, 1936-1937), failed to produce any evidence of the mystery man and elderly woman who lived upstairs and who might have murdered Olga Elviro (T: 1928-1930) and of the bite mark and hair samples found on Olga which might have been from someone other than the defendant. (T: 1928, 1932) The prosecutor again properly responded and stated that evidence such as fingerprints would have had little meaning because the defendant could still argue that since he lived in the house, it would be expected to find his fingerprints there. (T: 1950) The prosecutor continued that defense counsel's claims contained mere speculation, not based on facts in evidence, and that it had the effect of a smoke screen, clouding the facts like the cloudy water that results when a squid emits an ink when in danger. (T: 1971).

Thus, the prosecutor's comments were fair comment and reply to the preceding arguments of defense counsel and, taken in context, were not intended to convey the impression of improper motives or tactics on the part of defense counsel. See Francis v. State, 384 So.2d 967, 969 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980) (prosecutor's response to defense argument that the State did not produce fingerprint evidence and did not bring in police technician to testify was proper reply); Webb v. State, 347 So.2d 1054, 1056 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977) (prosecutor's questioning regarding absence of two eyewitnesses proper to preclude oft used defense tactic of asking why state did not bring in witness). Several decisions from Florida have found comments of this nature, referring to

defense counsel's argument as a smoke screen, were not improper or prejudicial. Westley v. State, 416 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982); Simpson v. State, 352 So.2d 125 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977).

Furthermore, considering the overwhelming evidence against defendant, even if the comments were improper, they were harmless and did not violate his right to a fair trial. See Blair v. State, 406 So.2d 1103, 1107 (Fla. 1981); Breedlove v. State, 413 So.2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1982); Cochran v. State, 280 So.2d 287 (Fla. 1st DCA 1973).34

#### XII

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTIONS FOR MISTRIAL WHERE THE PROSECUTOR'S COMMENTS DID NOT IMPERMISSIBLY COMMENT ON THE DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT BUT WERE A PROPER COMMENT ON THE EVIDENCE AT TRIAL.

The defendant contends the trial court erred in denying his motions for mistrial following two statements made by the prosecutor in his closing argument allegedly commenting upon the defendat's pre-arrest silence.

The State first submits this claim was not preserved for appellate review. Although the defendant did move for a mistrial after each remark, the motion for mistrial was a general motion and failed to set forth any grounds in support of the motion.

Motions for mistrial must be made with sufficient specificity to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup>The fact that the jury found the defendant guilty of the lesser included offense of second degree murder against Olga Elviro indicates that the comments did not so "poison the mind of the jurors or prejudice them so that a fair and impartial verdict could not be rendered," or were not so "inflammatory that they might have influenced the jury to reach a more severe verdict of guilt than it would otherwise." Blair v. State, 406 So.2d 1103, 1107 (Fla. 1981).

apprise the trial court of potential error and to preserve the point for appellate review. Ferguson v. State, 417 So.2d 639, 641 (Fla. 1982). In the present case, the defendant's general motion for mistrial failed to properly apprise the court of the basis for the potential error so that the trial court could determine the propriety of the comments and possible cure of any error. For this reason, the defendant has failed to preserve the issue for review by this Court. See also Black v. State, 367 So.2d 656 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979); Hufham v. State, 400 So.2d 133 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); Williams v. State, 414 So.2d 509 (Fla. 1982).

Even if the issue were properly preserved, however, the defendant's claim had no merit. The fifth amendment privilege is against compelled self incrimination and is not applicable when the defendant is under no official compulsion either to speak or to remain silent. Thus, the fact that the defendant has a constitutional right to remain silent when questioned by the police has no bearing on his voluntary decision to remain silent prior to having any contact with the police and his voluntary decision to not come forward to report criminal behavior. See Jenkins v. Anderson, 447 U.S. 231, 100 S.Ct. 2124, 2132, 65 L.Ed.2d 86 (1980)(J. Stewart, concurring opinion); Williams v. State, 400 So.2d 471, 472 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); Lebowitz v. Wainwright, 670 F.2d 974 (11th Cir. 1982). So long as the evidence is relevant, evidence of prearrest silence may be used not only for impeachment but also in rebuttal even when the defendant elects not to take the stand. Jenkins v. Anderson, supra, 447 U.S.

244, n. 7, 100 S.Ct. at 2132, n. 7; <u>See Lebowitz v. Wainwright</u>, <u>supra</u> at 979-981.

In the present case, the prosecutor's remarks were quite relevant for rebuttal and did not violate the defendant's constitutional right to remain silent. When examined in context, State v. Jones, 204 So. 2d 515 (Fla. 1967), it is clear that the comments were not actually directed to the defendant's failure to come forward to the police to report a crime, but were a direct rebuttal to the defendant's claim that either Arsenio Lara. Barcelo or Rizzo had committed the murders. In this respect the prosecutor pointed out that Arsenio Lara and Rizzo remained at the scene of the crime and cooperated with the police, yet the defendant quickly fled to Union City, New Jersey. (T: 1946, 1967) This reference to flight was an entirely permissible comment on the uncontradicted evidence at trial which established that the defendant disappeared immediately after the murders, failed to show up for his court hearing on two unrelated charges the next day, July 17, 1981, and was apprehended five days later hiding in a corner in an apartment in Union City, New Jersey. 35 Cf. State v. Young, 217 So.2d 567, 571 (Fla. 1968); Smith v. State, 377 So.2d 1149, 1150 (Fla. 1979).

<sup>35</sup>The jury was properly instructed that a defendant's attempt to escape or evade a threatened prosecution by flight may be taken as one of the series of circumstances from which guilt may be inferred. (T: 2013); Batey v. State, 355 So.2d 1271 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978); Williams v. State, 268 So.2d 566 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972); Hargrett v. State, 255 So.2d 298 (Fla. 3d DCA 1971).

Thus, the prosecutor's comments did not impermissibly comment on the defendant's right to remain silent. They were proper reply to the defendant's claim that others committed the murders and they properly addressed the permissible inference of consciousness of guilt from flight. See Nelson v. State, 416 So.2d 899 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982); Cridland v. State, 338 So.2d 30 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976); Lebowitz v. Wainwright, 670 F.2d 974, 980 (11th Cir. 1982). The trial judge did not abuse her discretion in denying the defendant's motions for mistrial.

### XIII

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN INSTRUCT-ING THE JURY ON ONLY THE RELEVANT AGGRA-VATING AND MITIGATING FACTORS WHERE THERE WAS SIMPLY NO EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE NON-INSTRUCTED MITIGATING FACTORS.

The defendant next argues the trial court erred in charging the jury on only the three aggravating and two statutory mitigating factors the court thought were relevant.

The standard Florida jury instructions for penalty proceedings in capital cases specifically direct the trial judge to give only those aggravating circumstances and only those mitigating circumstances for which evidence has been presented. Florida Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases (1981 Ed.), pgs. 78-80. The record shows the trial judge expressly complied with the clear directive of the standard jury instructions. In so doing she stated that to give all nine aggravating circumstances and all seven statutory mitigating circumstances, when there was absolutely no evidence to support six of the aggravating and five

of the statutory mitigating circumstances, would unnecessarily confuse the jury and perhaps even mislead them in rendering their advisory opinion of sentence. (T: 2062, 2067).<sup>36</sup>

The State submits it was not error for the trial court to instruct the jury as she did. Due process requires that particular aggravating and mitigating factors be given to the jury only when some evidence has been presented with respect to these factors from which a jury could rationally base its determination. The defendant is not denied due process when the trial judge does not instruct the jury on those aggravating and mitigating circumstances for which there is no evidentiary basis for a jury to consider. See Hopper v. Evans, \_\_U.S.\_\_\_, 102 S.Ct. 2049 (1982) (due process requires that a lesser included offense instruction be given in a capital case only when the evidence warrants such an instruction).

Furthermore, even assuming the trial court erred in not charging the jury as to all aggravating and mitigating circumstances, the error is harmless for several reasons. First, the defendant surely cannot claim a violation of his rights by the trial court not instructing the jury as to the remaining six aggravating factors, since the failure to so instruct inures to his benefit. Second, the failure to charge the jury with the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup>The record in the present case conclusively demonstrates there is <u>no</u> evidence from which the jury could reasonably or rationally find the mitigating factors not instructed by the trial judge. In fact, during the sentencing phase of the trial the defendant did <u>not</u> offer <u>any</u> evidence as to the remaining mitigating factors: victim was participant; defendant was accomplice, and defendant acted under extreme duress.

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